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C/o Baker & ﬁcKenzie LLP
815 Connecticut Avenue NW
Washington, D.C. 20006-4078

Dear Mr, Murphy:

This letter is in response to your petition filed on behalf of your client, M—
received on August 26, 2015,

MSEEEERRE, sceks relief from a penalty which was assessed in the amount of $778,199.52
pursuant to 19 USC 1592 at a degree of culpability of negligence.

Please be advised that your petition was referred to the Office of Regulations and Rulings,
Office of Intemational Trade for review and decision as outlined in 19 CFR 171.12. It was
determined by that office to remit the penalty in full. Enclosed herewith is a copy of their

decision.
In view of the foregoing OR&R decision, the penalty for this case is hereby remitted in full.

Any questions pertaining to this case, you may call Norma E. Flores, Paralegal Specialist at
(956) 523-7305. Please have the case number available when calling.

Sincerely,
%i(/z’gq Lopez
Fines, Penalties & Forfeitures Officer

Enclosure



U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Washingron, 1DC 20229

LA Customs and Border Protection

October 27, 2015

O'T:RR:BSTC:PEN S
Ms, Liza Lopez

FFines, Penaltics & Forfeitures Officer
U.S. Customs and Border Protection
P.O. Box 3130

Laredo, TX 78044-3130

RE: - FP&F Case Number 2 S 19 U.S.C. §1592
Dear Ms. Lopez:

This is ia response 1o your memorandum dated September 24, 2013, forwarding a petition
for relief filed by Michael E., Murphy and Christopher W. Lucas of Baker & McKenzie LLP
(“Counsel’), on behall of RSN (“Pettoner”) in Laredo Port Case numbor 5888,
BRSEEERSRR ' Pctitioner seeks relief from a penalty assessed in the amount of

§778,199.52, representing two times the loss of durics of $396,471.98 of which S$7,372.22 is a

© potental loss of duties, and $389,099.76 is an actual Joss of duties,® which was assessed
against it pursuant to Title 19, Unired Stares Code (“U.S.C."), Section 1592 at a degree of
culpability of negligence. The nerual loss of duties has not been rendered. Our decision in
this matrer is sct forch below,

FACTS:

based corporation that imports condensers from Mesico. From
Match 1, 2010 through August 2, 2011, Pettioner filed 264 entrics of condensers inta the -
United States from a related pacty in Mexico. Al but one of the subject entries were filed at
the Port of Laredo, Texas. The entries were filed under subheading 8415.90, Flanmonized
Tariff Schedule of the United States (HITSUS) as NAFTA originating articles under the
applicable rules of origin.

By letrer dared May 23, 2012, Pedtoner filed 2 prior disclosure at the Port of Laredo
pucsuant to 19 U.S.C. 15392(c)(#), sectons 162,74 and 181.21(b) of the UK. Customs and
Border Protection (CBP) Regulations (19 CIR §§162.74 and 181.21(b)). "T'he prior

' Pedtioner signed a Stanite of Limirations ("SOL") waiver on March 30, 2015, theeeby exrending rhe SO date
ra March 30, 2016, A request for anarher exeension of the SO was sent on Okcrober 5, 2015, by FP&F,
Laredo. The request is stll pending with Peddoner.

* 19 CFER. §162.71(8)(1) and (a){2) define acrual loss of dutics as “rthe duries of which the Govenmenr has
been deprived by renson of the Violation in respect of entrics on which liquidation has become final,” nad
porental loss of duties ax “rhe duries which the Goveernment renrnvely was deprived by reason of the violation
in respuct of entries on which liquidation has not hecome fing).”

' Enrry Number GEETRERERR (uiy 15, 2010) was filed ar the Por of Melen, TN,
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disclosure stated that Petitioner was recently advised by its Mexican producer/ exporter,
- B, that certain of the condensers that it had certified as orginating under
the terms of the NAFTA in 2010 and 2011, did not in fact qualify as originating goods under
NAFTA. The Mexican producer/ exporter’s revocation of the NAFTA Certificates of
Origin was necessitated because it rméd that an unrelated plier of a key
Ipon: . ced the NAFTA
: g advised that
S.-ori -originating articles, were, in
; BB cvoked the NAFTA Certificates of Origin it
provided in 2010 and 2011 for colls classified under subherding 8415.90, HTSUS, Since the
colls are actually non-otiginating articles and classified in the same subheading as the finished
condensers, this had a significant impact on the NAFTA cligibility of the finished
condensers produced in Mexico, The NAFTA rule of origin applicable to the subject
condensers, which are classified in subheading 8415.90, HTSUS, provides as follows;

fact, of Chinese origin, Consequently,3

A change to subheading 8415.90 from any other heading,

General Note 12(t)/84.35, HTSUS. Theréfore, pursuant to the NAFTA rule of origin
applicable to the good, each non-originating component included in the condenser must be
classified in 2 heading ourside of 8415.90), HTSUS, in order for the finished condenser to be
cligible for NAFTA treatment. Since the coils supplied by 2888 ate non-originating and
classified in the same subheading as the finished condensers (8415.90, HTSUS), the coils will
not satisfy the required shift in taxiff classification in Mexico. Therefore, the fact that
e cvoked its previously provided certifications renders the models of condensers that
utilized the coils a5 non-originatinig articles.’ As part of the prior disclosure, Petitioner also
tendered $7,372.22, for the additional duties and merchandise processing fees for the
unliquidated entries. However, the duties for the liquidated entries was not tendered at this
time. ~

In response to the Petitioner's claimed prior disclosure of May 25, 2012, CBP issued a letter
déth'Scptbmb”c; “20,*2912. CBP stated that a review of the information provided by
Petitioner reveals that the merchandise is subject to duties, fees and taxcs, The letter
demanded payment pursuant to 19 CER §162.74(c) in the amount of $429,375.76,
representing $361,847.43 in duties and $54,477.43 in merchandise processing fees, and
$13,050.90 in interest due. The letrer further stated that “[i]n order to be afforded the
benefits of a valid prior disclosure and avoid being penalized, duties must be tendered upon
demand.” Petidoner was given 30 days from September 20, 2012, in which to tender the
duties, fees and interest due.




On October 15, 2012, Petitioner filed a Protest and Applicaton for Further Review (AFR)®
of CBP’s duty demand leuter, Petitioner argues that the claimed duties are not owed on the
liquidated entries in this case since the original claims for NAFTA preferential treatment
were made with reasonable care. The Petiioner claims thar since it did not violate 19 U.S.C.

§1592(a), there is no legal basis under 19 US.C. §1592(d) for CBP to demand payment of

B

dudes and fees on the entries at issue in this case,

On August 29, 2013, the Office of Fines, Penaldes & Forfeitures (FP&F), Laredo, issued a
Pre-penalty Notice to“Tiligiess» The Pre-penalty Notice described the alleged violation as
follows: “

"* entered or caused to be entered merchandise into the comunerce of the
Uni , States by means of material false statements, acts and/or omission,
Specifically, 264 entries involving shipments of condensers made entry into the

United Stat 2010 through 2011 and were flagged as NAFTA qualifying,

B then subrnitted 2 prior disclosute advising of the crror and was allowed

1t time to tender the duties owed as demanded by U.S. Customs and Border
and failed 1o tender thie dutes demanded thereby failed to perfect the

c as required. The benefits of a valid prior disclosure were pardally denied

since glltendesed duties for the unliquidated entries (PLOR),

The Pre-penalty Notice alleged neglipeace as the tentative determination of culpability. A
demand for duties in the amount of $832,649.70, representing two times the actual
(¥416;324.86) plus the potential (§7,372.22) loss of dutes, was made.

By letter dated September 27, 2013, Petitioner submitted g response to the August 29, 2013
Pre-penalty Notice. Petitioner contended that a penalty should not be issued because the
Company exercised reasonable care by reljing on the NAFTA Certificates of Origin
voluntarly provided by the Mexican exporter/ producer of the condensess to make the
subject duty preference claims, Therefore, Petitioner argues that since its actions did not
result in & culpable violation of 19 U.S.C. §1592(a), thete is no legal basis to assess a penalty
ot to demand additional duties and fees on liquidated entries that are beyond the period for
voluntary reliquidation.

¥

On February 5, 2015, FP&F, Laredo issued a letter rescinding the September 20, 2012,
demand for duties and the August 29, 2013, Pre-penalty Nodce, The letter further advised
that an additional tender of $416,324.86 would be necessary within thirty (30) days, in
accordance with 19 U.S.C. §1592(c)(4), in order to “permir further processing of your
request for prior disclosure treatment.”

In response to FP&F’s letter rescinding the demand for duties and Pre-penalty Notice,
Petitioner submitted a letter dated March 2, 2015, Inits letter, Petitioner advised CBP that
in its ofiginal submission dated May 25, 2012, it sought to make a corrected NAFTA
declazation pursuant to 19 CFR 18121(b). The letter further stated thar the May 25, 2012,
letter was “not intended to disclose a violatios of 19.U.S.C. §1592(a).” To the contrary,
Petdrosier contended that no such violation of 19 U.S.C. §1592(a) occurted, as it exercised

# The AFR was forwarded to ORR on January 30, 2015,
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reasonable care in claiming preferential tariff treatment under NAFTA at the time of
importation. Therefore, Petitioner advised that inasmuch as it had tendered the amount
owed on the unliquidated entries covered by its corrected declaration, it would aot be
tendering any additional amounts with regard to its May 25, 2012 submission.

Subsequently, FP&F,

Laredo issued two letrers dated March 13, 2015, in response to
Petitioner’s March 2, 2015, letter. The fisst letter informed Petitioner that inasmuch as
Petitioner “failed to tender the dutiés and fees requested, the prior disclosure was not
perfect, and the NAFTA declarations were not tuly corrected because the applicable duties
were not paid.” Therefore, FP&F, Laredo informed Petitioner that its request for prior
disclosure treatment pursuant to 19 CFR §162.74 was denied. The second letrer issued by
FP&F, Laredo advised that a claim for monetary penalty was being contemplated against
Petitioner for violation of 19 U.S.C. §1592, and issued & Pre-penalty Notice alleging
aegligence as the leve] of culpability and proposing a monetary penalty in the amount of
$832,649.72, represeanting two times the loss of dutes (¥7,372.22 potential loss of dufies and
$416,324.86 actual l6ss of duties). : '

On March 24, 2015, FP&F, Laredo subsequently issued an amendment to the March 13,
2015, Pre-penalty Notice, Both the Pre-penalty Notice and the Amended Pre-penalty
Notice described the alleged violation as follows:

). c11tcred or caused (o be entered mérchandise into the
commerce of the United States by means of material false statements, acts and/or
otnission. Specifically, 264 entries involving shipments of condensers made entry
into the United States during the period of 2010 through 2011 and were flagged as
NAFTA qualifying. Wil then submitted a prior discldsure advising of the error
and was allowed sufficient tme to tender the underp: f duties and fees owed

declarations were riot trily cotrected le duties were not paid.
Therefore, the reqiiest-for prior disclosure treatment pursudnt to 19 CFR §162.74 is
herein denied, . '

The Amended Pre-penalty Notice reduced the loss of duties to $396,471,98 (representing
$7,372.22 potental loss of duties and $389,099.76 actual loss of duties). Both the Pre-
penalty and Amended Pre-penalty Notices alleged neglipence as the level of culpability. The
Amended Pre-penalty Notice proposed a penalty in the amount of §778,199.52,

By letter dated April 7, 2015, Petitioner submitted a response to the Amended Pre-penalty
Notice dated March 24, 2015. Petitioner contends that a penalty should not be issued on the
grounds that it did not violate 19 U.S.C. §1592(a) and, therefore, there was no legral basis to
demand payment of duties and fecs on liquidated entries that were beyond the period for
voluntary reliquidation or to impose pénalties.

In response to Petitioner’s April 7, 2015, letter, FP&F, Laredo issued a letter dated July 2,
2015, advising Petiioner that CBP was going forward with the issuance of a Penalty Notice

for a violaton of 19 U.S.C. §1592. The Penalry Notice in this case described the violation as
follows:
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- cntered or caused to be entered merchandise into the
d States by means of material false statements, acts and/or
64 entries involving shipments of condensers made entry
iring the pedod of 2010 through 2011 and were flagged as
then submitted & prior disclosure advising of the error
and was allowed sufficiént time to tender the under luties and fees owed
as requested by Customms and Border Protection. Si ailed ro tender the
duties and fees requested, the por disclosure was not perfected as required by 19
CFR §181.82(B)(5) and the NAFTA declarations were not truly corrected.

The Penalty Notice did not specifically state a level of culpability, but was issued in the

amount of $778,199.52, representing “two times the loss of duties, taxes and fees of which
the United States is or may be deprived.”

PETITIONER’S CLAIM(S):

Petitioner makes the following arguments:

LAW:

(1) CBP failed to comply with its own regulations in issuing the Penalty Notice.
Petitioner argues that the Penalty Notice failed to contain all of the elements
required by 19 CFR §162.31(b). Specifically, the Petiioner submits that the
Notice did not contain a “description of the specific acts or omissions forming
the basis of the alleged violations”, but instead makes general claims that the
Company entered the subject merchandise by means of “material false
statemnents, acts and/or bmission.” In addition, Pedtoner claims that the Penalty
Notice fails to specifically identify the alleged loss of revenue, or explain how
that loss was calculated. :

(2) Petitioner argues that no violation of 19 U.S.C. §1592() has occurred, Petitioner
alleges that it'exercised teasonable care ar the time the subject NAFTA claims
were made by relying on NAFTA Certificutes of Origin voluntarily provided by
the Mexican éxporter/producer of the condénsers to make the subject duty
prefefence claims,

19 U.S.C. §1592(a)(1)(A) provides that

(1) Without regard to whether the United States is or may be deprived of all of a
portion of any lawful duty, tax, or fee thereby, no person, by fraud, gross

negligence, or negligence-

(A) may enter, introduce, or attempt to eqgter or introduce any merchandise
into the commerce of the United States by means of—

(i) any document, or electronically transmitted data or informaton,
written or oral statement, or act which is rmaterial and false, or
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(i) any omission which is material.

To violate the statute, the material falsity or omission may be made at the time the enuy is
filed, or subsequent to the entry filing, untl the ertry is finally liquidated, See Unifed States o
Ford Motor Company, 387 F. Supp:2d 1305, Slip Op. 05-86, July 20, 2005 (af* in part and rev'd
in part 463 F.3d 1286 (Fed, Cir. 2006); United States . Hitachi America, L4, 21 CIT. 373,389,
964 F. Supp. 344,361 (1977), rev'd in part and affd in part on ofjyer grounds, 172 F.3d 1319 (Fed.
Cir. 1999),

Negligence is defined as:

[A]n act or acts (of commission or omission) done through either the failure to
exercise the degree of reasonable care and competence expeeted from a person in
the same circumstances either: (a) in ascertaining the facts or in drawing inferences
thérefrom, in ascertaining the offender's obligations under the statute; or (b) in
cominunicating information in a mianner so that it may be undetstood by the
recipient. As a genenal rule, a viclation is negligent if it results from failute to
exercise reasonable care and competence: (a) to ensure that statements made and
information provided in connection with the imporration of metchandise are
complete and accurate; or (b) to perform any material act required by statute or

regulation,
19 C.F.R.Part 171, App. B, Para. (C)(1).
19 U.S.C. §1592(e)(4) provides:

[1}f the monetary penalty is based on negligence, the United States shall have the
biirden of proof to establish the act or omission constituting the violation, and the
alleged violator shall have the birden of proof that the act or omission did not occur

as a reslt of ncghgcncc

19 U.S.C. §1484(a)(1) provides that the importer shall use *“reasonable éare” in “filing with
the Customs Service. . . the classification and rate of duty applicable to the merchandise. . .
to enable the Cdstoms Service to. . . properly assess duties on the merchandise.”

19 C.FR. Part 171, App. B, Para. (B) defines materiality as:
A document, statement, act or omission is material if it has the natural tendency to
inﬂue;zqé oris capable of influencing agency action including, but not limited to a

Customs action regarding: . . (2) determination of an importer’s liability for duty. . ,
[and] {4) determination as to the source, origin, or quality of the merchandise.
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NAFTA Aricle 501, paragraph 3 states, in pertinent part:
Each Party shall:

(2) Require an exporter in its territory to complete and sign a Certificate of Otgin for
any exportation of a good for which an importer may claim preferential tariff
treatment on importation of the good into the territory of another Party; and

(b) Provide that where an exporter in its territory is not the producer of the good, the
exporter may complete and sign a Certificate on the basis of
i) Its knowledge of whether the good qualifies as an originating good,

ii) Its reasonable reliance on the producer’s written representation that the good
qualifies as an orginating good, or

iify A completed and signed Certificate for the good voluntarly provided to the
exporter by the Producer.

Further, Article 502, paragraph 1 states:

Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, each Party shall require an importer in

its territory that claims preferential tariff treatment for a good imported into its

territory from the territory of another Pasty to;

(8) Make a written declaration, based on a valid Certificate of Origin, that the good
qualifies 25 an originating good;

(b) Have the Certificate in its possession at the time the declaradon js made;

(¢) Provide, on the request of that Party’s customs administration, a copy of the
Certificate; and

(d) Promptly make a corrected declaration and pay any duties owing where the
importer has reason to believe that a Certificate on which a declaration was based
contains information that is not correct,

CBP has implemented Article 502 by promulgating Subpart B and Subpart C to Part 181 of
the CBP Regulations, 19 C.F.R. §§181.11 1o 181,13 and 19 C.F.R. §§181.21 to 181.23,
Section 181.11(s) provides that a Certifieate of Origin shall be employed to certify that a
good being exported either from the United States into Canada or Mexico or from Canada
to Mexico into the United States qualifies as an originating good for purposes of preferential
taniff tréatment under the NAFTA.

Section 181.21(a) requires (with certain exceptions) that a claim for preferential tariff
treatment under NAFTA;

be based on a complete and properly execured original Certificate of Origin, or copy
thereof, which is in the possession of the importer and which covers the good being
imported.

19 C.F.R. §181.22(a) requires that

Each importer claiming preferential tariff treatment for a good imported into the
United States shall maintain in the United States, for five years afier the date of eatry
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of the good, all documentation relating to the importation of the good. . .
includefing] a copy of the Certificate of Origin,

Subsection 181.22(3) provides:

An importer who claims preferential tadiff treatment of good under Section 181.21
of this part shall provide, at the request of the port direcror, a copy of éach
Certificate of Origin pertaining to the good which is in the possession of the
importer.

ANALYSIS;

As a preliminary matter, Petitioner contends that CBP failed to comply with its own
regulations in issuing the Penalty Notice since the Notice fails to: 1) describe the specific acts
or omissions forming the basis of the alleged violation; 2) identify the alleged loss of duties;
and 3) identify the level of culpability, 19 U.S.C, §1592(b)(1)(a) requires the Pre-penalty and
Penalty notices to “state all the material facts which establish the alleged violation,”

In the instant case, Petitioner claims that the Penalty Notice did not include 2 “description of
the specific acts or omissions forming the basis of the alleged violations,” However, we note
that in Petitioner’s letter dated May 25, 2012, it clairmied that it was submitting a prior
disclosure pursuant to 19 US.C, §1592(c)(4), for false NAFTA claims inasmuch as “certain
of the condensers it had certified as originating under the terms of NAFTA in 2010 and
2011 did not in fact qualify.” Morcover, in both the Pre-penalty, Aménded Pre-penalty and
Penalty Notices, CBP acknowledged that Petitioner had submitted 2 prior disclosure for

filing erroncous NAFTA claims on 264 entries consisting of condensers filed during the

pcﬁbd from 2010 through 2011 through the Port of Laredo, Therefore, it is c}éir that

Petitioner fully undérstood the material facts of the violation, as demonstrated by the fact

that it was Petitioner who iriitially brought the false NAFTA claims to the attention of CBP,
and based on the Notices from FP&F, Laredo.

Petitioner further claims that the Penalty notice fails to identify the alleged loss of duties or
explain how the loss of duties was calculated and fails to specify the level of culpability.
Contrary to Petitioner's claim that CBP did not explain how the penalty was caleulated, we
note that both the Pre-penalty and Amended Pre-penalty Notices included 2 list of the
entries involved in the case with a beeakdown of the loss of duties for each entry.
Furthermore, in regard to Petitioner's claim that the Penalty Notice failed to state the level
of culpability, we also note that both the Pre-penalty and Amended Pre-penalty Notices
cleatly stated negligence as the level of culpability. Ser United States v, CTS Holding 1LC, Slip
Op. 15-70, June 30, 2015. Pursuant to 19 US.C. §1592(5)(2) and 19 C.FR. §16279(5)(2).
the Penalty Notice is required to include any changes in the information contained in the
Pre-penalty Notice, In the inistant case, since there wete no changes to the information
contained in the Pre-penalty Notices, Petitioner was fully apprised as to the level of
culpability and loss of duty calculation alleged in the Penalty Notice and CBP abided by the
procedural requirements of 19 U.S.C. §1592(b). Itis clear that, under the foregoing Facts,
the failuce of the penalty notice itself ro explicitly state the specific acts or omissions forming
the basis of the alleged violation, the loss of duties and level of culpability constituted, at
worst, harmless error.

Page B of 9



Petitioner argues that it should not be subject to a penalty pursuant to 19 U.S.C. §1592 since
there is no evidence to support the conclusion that a violaton of 19 U.S.C. §1592(a)
accurred. Petitioner subrnits that it exercised reasonable care when it mrde the NAFTA
claims since it relied on valid NAFTA Certificates of Orsigin voluntarily supplied by its
Mexican exporter/producer for the condensers to make the subject duty preference claims
and had no reason to suspece that the Certificates of Origin were inaccuzate, In this
particular case, we agree.

We find that Petitioner was not negligent pursuant to 19 U.S.C. §1592 with respect to all 264
entries at issue in this case because it exercised reagonable car¢ and competence expected
from a person in the same circumstances. 19 U.S.C. §1592(2) and 19 CFR Part 171, App.
B(C)(1). Petitioner relied upon the NAFTA Certificates of Otigia supplied by the untelated

produce: S, «nd had no reason to doubt their validity. See NAFTA Ardcle 501(1); 19
CFR §§187.212nd 181.22. Pursuant to 19 CFR 181.22(b)(2), at the tithe Petitioner made the
NAFTA claim, it hiad in its possession a valid NAFTA Certificate of Origin that had been
volunwrily provided by the Mexican exporter/producet for the condensers, which at the
time, Petitioner had no reason t6 bélieve wasinaccurate. As we undérstand the facts of this
case {0 be, We accept as true that the Mexican exporter/producer reasonably relied upon
@A’ ccriifications when it performed its analysis, determined that the condensers
qualified, and issued the NAFTA Certificates of Ofigin for the finished good. It appears
that neither the Mexican exporter/producer nor ¥ile US had any reason 1o believe that the
NAFTA Certificates of Origin voluntarily provided b BB were false, Petitioner was
not aware that the NAFTA certificates weré false, and that Petitioner-had no 1eas0n 1o
suspect they were inaccurate untl it received notice on May 1, 2012 stnine months
after the last entry was filed, from the Mexican producer/exporte - , that
one of the components supplied by WM did not qualify as NAFTA-originating. Upon
receipt of the information from its Mexican producer/exporter, Petitioner came forward
immediately to disclose the circumstances of the violation to CBP, We find the fact that
Pettioner voluntarily came forward with 2 prior disclosure as soon s it received information
that the condensers did not qualify for NAFTA preferential treatment as evidence that
Petitioner acted in good faith.

~

CONCLUSION:

We find that Petitioner did not violate 19 U.S.C. 1592(a) and, therefore, it is our decision to
remit the penalty and duty demand in full. Please notify Petitioner, through counsel, of our
decision and provide a copy of this letter with your notification. Thank you for your
attention to this matter,

Sincerely,
GEORGE F MCCRAY JR et
George Frederick McCray

Supervisory Seriior Attorney/Chief-Penaldes Branch
Office of Tnternational Trade - Reguladons and Rulings
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